FILED
FEB 28 2017
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

NO. 73748-1-I 14199. B

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRAND INSULATIONS, INC.,

Petitioner,

٧.

ESTATE OF BARBARA BRANDES

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

David A. Shaw, WSBA #08788 Malika I. Johnson, WSBA #39608 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101-2380

Ph: (206) 628-6600 Fx: (206) 628-6611

Attorneys for Petitioner Brand Insulations,

Inc.

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Brand Insulations, Inc. ("Brand") asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Estate of Barbara Brandes v. Brand Insulations, Inc., 2017 WL 325702 (Jan. 23, 2017, unpublished). See App. A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err in declining to review Brand's statute of repose argument by reasoning that (1) the issue was not preserved, (2) the insulation was not an improvement to real property and (3) the statute is limited to structural components?
- 2. Should this Court accept review to decide a matter of first impression in the State: Is there a common law duty on the part of a construction subcontractor at a worksite owned by a third party to protect the spouse of an employee of that third party from exposures to potentially toxic materials brought into the family home by the employee on his person and clothing?¹
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err in making a factual determination that Brand was a seller of insulation when the trial court made the opposite finding and that finding was not challenged on appeal?

¹ This type of exposure is often referred to as "take-home" exposure.

- 4. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that Restatement .

 (Second) of Torts § 388 duty of a supplier warranted a negligent sales claim?
- 5. Did the Court of Appeals err in reversing remittitur and affirming an allocation of settlement proceeds to claims that were extinguished as a matter of law.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Underlying Facts</u>.

Barbara Brandes was diagnosed with mesothelioma June of 2014. (CP 000388). On August 6, 2014, Ms. Brandes and her husband filed a personal injury action naming Brand as a defendant. (CP 000396). None of her children joined in the case. *Id.* Plaintiffs alleged Ms. Brandes was exposed to respirable asbestos fibers carried home on Mr. Brandes' person and clothing during the time that he worked for ARCO at ARCO's Cherry Point refinery from 1971 to 1975. (CP 000386).

In 1970, the Ralph M. Parsons Company contracted with ARCO for the construction of an oil refinery at Cherry Point. Brand was the primary insulation subcontractor for that construction. (CP 000428). Brand's work was performed under Parsons' direction according to specifications set forth in Brand's subcontract. *Id.* Parsons retained full authority over the work to be performed. (CP 000429). The subcontract

contained precise specifications as to what products were to be used by Brand to insulate piping, vessels and equipment on the project.

c. All piping shall be insulated with "chloride free" calcium silicate insulation as manufactured by PABCO Division of Fibreboard Corporation, Emeryville, California and/or Johns-Manville Sales Corporation, Industrial Insulations Division.(CP 000463).

Brand installed insulation on the Crude Unit where Mr. Brandes first worked. *Id.* Once Brand completed insulating a unit, it was turned over to ARCO. By September 1971, the Crude Unit had been turned over to ARCO for operation. (CP 000485, CP 000503). All insulation installed by Brand was covered by sheet metal lagging. Brand left the Cherry Point facility as of February 1972. (CP 000505).

Ray Brandes was hired to work as an operator at the Cherry Point refinery in March of 1971. (VRP 588). From March until September, the ARCO employees attended classroom training off site. (VRP 589). In September, the new employees began some on the job training at the facility. (VRP 635-36). By mid-November of 1971, Mr. Brandes was working in the Crude unit, which was fully operational. (VRP 589). An operator was charged with maintaining continuous operation of the processing unit. *Id.* As an operator, Ray may have prepared equipment for whatever needed to be done to maintain it, which could have included removing insulation to gain access to the equipment. (CP 616). If the

insulation was on a pipe, an operator would typically use a screwdriver to pull off the metal cladding and then break the insulation off the pipe. *Id.* According to Mr. Brandes, he removed insulation from pipes approximately one-two times per month. (CP 000567).

B. <u>This Litigation.</u>

Brand filed a summary judgment motion seeking, inter alia, dismissal of Plaintiff's strict liability claims. The trial court found that Brand was not a "seller" and its installation of insulation pursuant to specifications provided by the owner was not a "sale" under Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A. The court dismissed Plaintiff's strict liability Brand sought dismissal of the balance of Plaintiff's claims pursuant to Washington's Construction statute of repose RCW 4.16.300-310. (CP 002778). The trial court denied Brand's motion, initially ruling that Plaintiff's raised a question of fact as to whether insulation, in and of itself, was an "improvement to real property," and whether the statute applied to Plaintiff's "negligent sales" claims (Brand Opening Brief, App. A). Brand brought a motion for reconsideration based on the clear language of the statute of repose and Washington precedent which demonstrate that the salient legal inquiry was not, as urged by Plaintiff, whether or not a subcontractor's work itself constituted an improvement to real property. Rather, the appropriate inquiry is simply whether the

contractor's work activity is conducted as part of the construction, repair or alteration of an improvement to real property. (CP 003458-59). Rather than addressing the merits of Brand's motion, the trial court determined that the statute repose was inapplicable to a case involving a disease like mesothelioma.

I was interested to be reminded of Justice Owens' recitation (at p. 577-8) of the primary purposes of statutes of repose. With these in mind, it seems pretty clear the statute should not be used to preclude a claim based on asbestos exposure that is alleged to have occurred soon after, and directly due to, the defendants' negligent sale or use in question but which could not have led to any claim until several decades later[.]

The trial court denied reconsideration. *Id.*² The case proceeded to trial. On the night before closing argument, Ms. Brandes passed away. Prior to informing the court or Brand, Plaintiff counsel had Ms. Brandes' daughter appointed personal representative of the estate and requested the case be continued under RCW 4.20.060, as a special survival action. (VRP 1370-73). Plaintiff did not seek to amend the complaint to add wrongful death claims on behalf of the heirs/statutory beneficiaries.³ (VRP 1373). The jury returned a verdict in Ms. Brandes favor and awarded her \$3.5 million.

Brand and Plaintiff filed post-trial motions. Plaintiff requested a

² The trial court denied the motion for reconsideration and sent the Order to the parties via email. The body of the email contained the court's reasoning and is attached here (as it was to the Court of Appeals) as App. B.

³ The statutory beneficiaries under the Wrongful Death Act had not filed loss of consortium claims in the Brandes' personal injury action, although entitled to do so.

reasonableness hearing and moved the court to apportion fifty percent of the settlement proceeds to a future wrongful death case. (CP 005518). Brand moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, a new trial or, in the alternative, remittitur. (CP 005192). The trial court granted remittitur and reduced the verdict to \$2.5 million. (CP 005428-31). The court also granted, in part, Plaintiff's motion and apportioned twenty percent of the prior settlements to a "future wrongful death claim." *Id*.

C. Court of Appeals Decision.

The Court of Appeals held that Brand did not effectively preserve for review its statute of repose argument (1) because Brand failed to present evidence at trial that insulation was an "integral" component or itself an improvement to real property, (2) because Brand did not present expert testimony, offer jury instructions or move for a directed verdict regarding the material facts that make up the defense, and (3) because the legal issue was not again raised before verdict, thereby affording the court the opportunity to correct any legal error. The Court, therefore, declined to address the issue on appeal.

As to the question of whether Brand owed a legal duty to Ms. Brandes, the Court of Appeals held that (1) Brand acted affirmatively when it installed insulation, (2) Brand engaged in this activity in a way that created an unreasonable risk of harm, and (3) the risk of harm as to

Ms. Brandes was forseeable.

The Court of Appeals further held that the trial court's instruction allowing the jury to consider whether Brand was negligent based on "sales" to the refinery, despite having ruled that Brand was not a "seller" of insulation was not error because (1) Brand had a duty to warn about the danger of the product it selected and sold, and (2) Brand was a supplier within the chain of distribution under Restatement (Second) of Torts § 388.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Statute of Repose

The first issue in Brand's appeal presents an important but simple question of law that Brand raised repeatedly in the trial court: Does the statute of repose protect a subcontractor whose activities were undertaken in connection with the construction of an improvement to real property? The Court of Appeals held that because the trial court initially held that there was a question of fact as to whether insulation itself constituted an improvement to real property and because Brand did not present evidence at trial to establish that it was, Brand did not preserve the issue of the statute's application on appeal. That holding is a mischaracterization of the facts and a misapplication of the law. Brand's motion for summary judgment was based on the fact that Ms. Brandes' claim was filed

approximately 40 years after expiration of the latest possible statute of repose's accrual date. Initially, the trial court adopted Court of Appeals (and Plaintiff's) position that the statute only applied if the contractor's work was, in and of itself, an improvement to real property. (VRP 53). Brand moved for reconsideration pointing out that cases applying the statute of repose and the plain language of the statute required an "activities" based inquiry. (App. C). No question of disputed fact existed with respect to the scope and nature of Brand's work at the refinery. The trial court denied Brand's reconsideration motion, not by addressing the merits, but by ruling that a "discovery rule" precluded application of the statute. This Court in Gevaart v. Metco Construction, Inc., 111 Wn.2d 499, 502, 760 P.2d 348 (1988) rejected the proposition that a discovery rule applies to the statute of repose. *Id.* The Gevaart Court held that the statute of repose limits the discovery rule and absolutely bars claims that have not accrued within six years. Gevaart, 111 Wn.2d at 502. The trial court's ruling was contrary to specific Supreme Court precedent regarding the existence of a statute of repose discovery rule. Both the proper application of the statute and the applicability of a "discovery rule" were legal issues that were preserved and should have been considered on its merits by the Court of Appeals. Denial of a motion for summary judgment is properly before the Court of Appeal where the question

presented turns solely on a substantive issue of law. Kaplan v. Northwestern Mut. Life Ins. Co., 115 Wn. App. 791, 799, 65 P.3d 16 (2003).

The Court of Appeals failed to heed that principle here. Brand's argument presented a question of law, and Brand clearly articulated it as such. By holding that a "discovery rule" controlled, the trial court undoubtedly understood that an activities analysis was the proper inquiry. The Court of Appeals issued a decision that conflicts with *Kaplan* and the decisions of this Court, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2).

B. <u>Issues of Statutory Interpretation are Reviewed De Novo.</u>

The Court of Appeals also erred because the trial court's ruling that there was a question of fact as to whether insulation was an improvement to real property is a matter of statutory interpretation and therefore, by definition, a legal issue. Trial court decisions which concern pure questions of law, and claims of error arising from those decisions, are reviewed *de novo*. In such instances, the appellate court will determine for itself what the law is, without any particular deference to what the trial court decided. *Circumstances Which May Affect Scope Of Review*, 2A Wash. Prac., Rules Practice RAP 2.5 (7th ed.); *Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010) (Statutory

interpretation is a question of law, which we review *de novo*); *Lobell v. Sugar N' Spice*, 33 Wn.App. 881, 887, 658 P.2d 1267 (1983). ("Whether a statute applies to a factual situation is a question of law and fully reviewable on appeal" citing *Keyes v. Bollinger*, 31 Wn.App. 286, 640 P.2d 1077 (1982)). The determination of whether particular statutory language applies to a factual situation is a conclusion of law, reviewed *de novo. Better Fin. Solutions, Inc. v. Caicos Corp.*, 117 Wn. App. 899, 908, 73 P.3d 424 (2003). This court reviews de novo the trial court's application of the phrase "any control over the facility." *Taliesen Corp. v. Razore Land Co.*, 135 Wn. App. 106, 126–27, 144 P.3d 1185 (2006).

No question of fact was presented with respect to Brand's work. It installed insulation in a refinery under construction. The trial court's charge was to determine whether or not that activity fell within the statute of repose. The Court of Appeals charge was to determine whether the trial court's decision was correct interpretation of the statute. Neither fulfilled its obligation. The trial court took a position that was at odds with the language of the statute and the appellate court decisions interpreting the statute. When confronted with the disconnect between its interpretation of the statute and the language of the statute and case law, the trial court chose to hangs its hat on a non-existent "discovery rule." Both of these holdings were challenged by Brand on appeal. The Court of Appeals

declined to consider either legal issue, concluding instead that Brand's failure to present evidence that its work constituted, in and of itself, an improvement to real property barred review because Brand had failed to "preserve" its claim of error. The Court of Appeals position is indefensible. First, it ignores the fact that the trial court found the statute inapplicable due to the imposition of a phantom "discovery rule" and failed to address the issue raised by Brand's motion for reconsideration. Second, it assumes the correctness of the "work as improvement" concept initially adopted by the trial court. Again, that interpretation of the statute of repose is contrary to the language of the statute and the cases that have interpreted it. The Court of Appeals should have addressed the legal issues presented by Brand's appeal on their merits, because whether the statute applies to a given set of fact is a matter of law. Condit v. Lewis Refrigeration Co., 101 Wn.2d 106, 110-11, 676 P.2d 466 (1984). The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with established law and is procedurally defective. Review thus is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(2). Moreover, the practical consequences of the Court of Appeals' decision in asbestos and general construction litigation will be far reaching. The opinion presents a matter of substantial public interest because the decision misinterprets a statute of broad legal application. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

C. <u>There is No Legal Basis under a Common Law Negligence Theory to Extend Liability under the Facts of this Case.</u>

Established legal principles governing the law of negligence guide the Court's application of the law to the facts of this case. An underlying principle of negligence law is that, if a duty is to be found, it must be within the power of the party charged with the duty to fulfill it. Under the circumstances of this case, Brand had no ability to control the conduct of Mr. Brandes, an ARCO employee. Brand could not require him to shower or change his clothing prior to returning home, nor did Brand have any meaningful way to determine that, even if a warning was provided to Mr. Brandes, he would have heeded that warning or communicated it to Ms. Brandes once he got home.

Two Washington cases have addressed the issue of "take home exposure" liability. Lundsford involved strict liability claims against a manufacturer of asbestos products. Lundsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 125 Wn. App. 784, 786-87, 106 P.3d 808 (2005). The Court, in reversing summary judgment, specifically held that the policy rationales underlying strict liability provided the basis of its decision. "Given the lack of clear authority and the literal language of section 402A, policy considerations are key in determining whether strict liability should extend to injuries to plaintiffs like Lunsford." Id. at 792-983.

In Arnold, the issue before Division II was whether Lockheed, a shipyard premises owner, could be liable to the son of a shipyard worker for asbestos exposures allegedly incurred by the son as a result of his father bringing asbestos home on his clothing and person during the time the father worked at the shipyard. Arnold v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 157 Wn.App. 649, 653-55, 240 P.3d 162 (2010). The court did not specifically analyze the take home exposure question but found that the Arnolds had presented sufficient evidence "to resist summary judgment on their claims against Lockheed as a general contractor with control over the common work areas on the ships where Reuben worked." Id. at 666 The critical point to recognize when evaluating (emphasis added). Lunsford and Arnold in the context of this case, which sounds in ordinary negligence, is that a negligence case does not provide a conceptual hook on which the court can hang a liability hat. There is no "retained control of the worksite." There is no social engineering policy recognized in strict liability. There is only the prospect of liability without limit for one in Brand's position.⁴

Washington negligence law does not recognize a duty to control the conduct of another person to prevent that person from causing harm to

⁴ The authors of this brief are now handling a case in which liability is predicated in part on visits by a relative to the home of the asbestos worker. Lynda Jolly v. Ashland LLC, Superior Court for Grays Harbor County No. 116-2-00714-3.

a third person, absent a special relationship between the actor and the third person or some other policy consideration. "[I]n the absence of a special relationship between the parties, there is no duty to control the conduct of a third person so as to prevent him from causing harm to another." *Tae Kim v. Budget Rent A Car Sys., Inc.,* 143 Wn.2d 190, 195, 15 P.3d 1283 (2001).

Under Washington law, no liability will attach in tort absent a "definite, established and continuing relationship between the defendant and the third party." *Honcoop v. State*, 111 Wn.2d 182, 193, 759 P.2d 1188 (1988). No relationship existed between Brand and Ms. Brandes. There is neither a legal basis nor a policy basis upon which liability can be predicated in the circumstances presented by this case. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that Brand acted affirmatively thereby causing harm to Ms. Brandes is entirely inconsistent with Washington Supreme Court jurisprudence defining the parameters defining when a duty will be found to exist.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals' finding that sufficient evidence was presented suggesting that Brand should have foreseen a risk to family members of asbestos exposed workers is unsupported by the record. Brand presented specific evidence that Dr. Selikoff, the leading US asbestos researcher of the day, was telling insulation workers that his

research into that issue was reassuring. That was in the Fall of 1971, precisely the time Brand was working at the ARCO refinery. (VRP 895-96; 899-900; 942-944). Definitive articles on that issue with respect to asbestos containing thermal insulation products were not published until 1976, four years after Brand left the ARCO site. (VRP 942-44).

The Court of Appeals holding that Brand owed a generalized duty of care to Ms. Brandes is contrary to existing Washington appellate jurisprudence. The issue is a matter of first impression. It is likely to recur absent clear direction from this Court. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

D. Brand is Not a "Seller" Under the Law.

The Court of Appeal erred in holding that the trial court's "negligent sales" instruction to the jury was proper. Brand was not a seller of insulation materials. Brand's installation of insulation was not a sale. Those specific factual findings were made by the trial court in granting Brand's motion to dismiss Plaintiff's Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A claims. (VRP 52). Brand was not a seller under Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A and, as explained by the Supreme Court in Simonetta and Braaten, could not have been "in the chain of distribution" for purposes of section 388. Those finding were unchallenged by the Plaintiff on appeal and, therefore, must be treated as verities by the Court

of Appeals. Bernett v. Brandrud Mfg. Co., 1 Wn. App. 183, 184, 459 P.2d 977 (1969).

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