RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

4/20/2017 2:06 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 94199-8

Court of Appeals No. 73748-1-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRAND INSULATIONS, INC.,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

ESTATE OF BARBARA BRANDES,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Matthew P. Bergman (WSBA No. 20894) Kaitlin T. Wright (WSBA No. 45241) BERGMAN DRAPER LADENBURG 821 2nd Avenue, Suite 2100 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 957-9510 Leonard J. Feldman (WSBA No. 20961) PETERSON | WAMPOLD | ROSATO | FELDMAN | LUNA 1501 4th Avenue, Suite 2800 Seattle, WA 98101 (206-682)-6800

Attorneys for Respondent/Cross-Appellant

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

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined that Brand's Statute of Repose Defense was Unreviewable.

Brand first urges review of the Court of Appeals' ruling regarding the statute of repose defense. This Court should reject Brand's request to resurrect this issue because the Court of Appeals properly declined review of the issue on two separate and valid bases. First, the appellate court declined review because summary judgment orders are "not reviewable … after a trial on the merits." Slip op. at 5. Second, the appellate court refused to review the issue because Brand waived the defense by failing to raise it during the ensuing trial. Slip op. at 7-8. Both bases for denying review are consistent with this Court's precedent.

Brand tries to recharacterize the issue on appeal relating to the statute of repose by focusing on the trial court's denial of Brand's motion for reconsideration of the summary judgment ruling-rather than the summary judgment order itself. Concentrating on the motion for reconsideration, Brand misrepresents to this Court that the trial court's denial of summary judgment on the statute of repose defense was premised on a ruling that "a 'discovery rule' precluded application of the statute." Pet. at 8, 10. That is untrue. The trial court's order denying summary judgment plainly states that "with respect to Plaintiff's negligent installation claims, there are disputed issues of fact as to whether insulation constitutes an improvement to real property." App. A. to Brand's Opening Br. (attached hereto as App. A) (emphasis added). Brand correctly acknowledged in its subsequent motion for reconsideration that the trial court had found fact issues as to whether insulation constitutes an improvement to real property. CP 2985-86. After full briefing on the reconsideration motion, the trial court denied reconsideration without further analysis, thus leaving in place its ruling that fact issues precluded summary judgment on this issue.² CP 3458-59.

Despite the clarity of the trial court's rulings, Brand discusses an email from the trial judge to counsel sent contemporaneously with the order denying reconsideration to support its theory that denial of summary judgment was incorrectly premised on the notion that a "discovery rule" precludes application of the statute. However, the trial court's email simply informed counsel of the fact that the court had recently signed an order denying the defendant's reconsideration motion, after having re-read *1519-1525 Lakeview Blvd. Condo. Ass'n v. Apartment Sales Corp.*, 144 Wn.2d 570, 577, 29 P.3d 1249 (2001), which the trial judge observed "of course, does not at all direct a conclusion as to the present question."³ App. B to Pet. Notably absent from the trial judge's email is any mention of the "discovery rule" that Brand argues was the basis for the court's outright

² The trial court's denial of a motion for reconsideration is purely discretionary and can only be overturned upon a showing of abuse of discretion, "that is, discretion manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." *River House Dev. Inc. v. Integrus Architecture, P.S.*, 167 Wn. App. 221, 231, 272 P.3d 289, 294 (2012), citing *Rivers v. Wash. State Conference of Mason Contractors*, 145 Wn.2d 674, 684–85, 41 P.3d 1175 (2002).

³ Ironically, the catalyst for the court's re-visitation of the *Lakeview* case was Brand's strenuous argument in its motion for reconsideration that the *Lakeview* case gave "further context" to the criterion of the statute of repose defense that the contractor's work relate to installation of an improvement to real property—the very basis on which summary judgment was denied due to factual disputes, which the trial court left undisturbed. CP 2986-87.

denial of reconsideration of the summary judgment without additional analysis.

Brand's attempt to obfuscate the basis for the trial court's summary judgment ruling is further belied by the appellate court's analysis. The Court of Appeals explicitly noted the existence of questions of material fact regarding application of the statute of repose, including "the purpose, necessity, and permanence of the insulation that Brand installed in the refinery," before appropriately concluding that the summary judgment order could not be appealed because it was followed by a trial. Slip op. at 7, citing *Johnson v. Rothstein*, 52 Wn. App. 303, 759 P.2d 471 (1988). RAP 2.2 and well-established case law clearly state that summary judgment orders cannot be appealed after a full trial on the merits. Slip op. at 6, citing *Johnson*, 52 Wn. App. at 303-04 and *Olympic Fish Prods., Inc. v. Lloyd*, 93 Wn.2d 596, 602, 611 P.2d 737 (1980). Brand has not demonstrated that the Court of Appeals' decision to decline review on the basis of the summary judgment denial conflicts with Washington law in any manner.

The Court of Appeals also provided additional rationale for its decision to decline review pursuant to RAP 2.5(a) and this Court's precedent prohibiting appellate review of "an error not raised in the trial court." Slip op. at 7, citing *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 301, 305, 814 P.2d 227 (1991) and *Adcox v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp. and Medical Center*,

123 Wn.2d 15, 35 n.9, 864 P.2d 921 (1993). Because Brand neither offered any evidence at trial relating to the disputed issue of whether insulation constitutes an improvement to real property, nor moved for a directed verdict or offered a jury instruction on the statute of repose, the Court of Appeals concluded that Brand failed to preserve the issue for review. Slip op. at 8. Rather than addressing the authority underlying the appellate court's holding that the statute of repose issue was unreviewable, Brand simply makes the conclusory allegation that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with established law and misinterprets a statute of broad legal application. Brand's argument fails because the appellate court did not engage in substantive statutory construction or apply any of the statute of repose case law Brand discusses to reach its decision that the statute of repose issue was unreviewable. Review of the Court of Appeals' decision declining to review the application of the statute of repose defense is thus wholly unwarranted under RAP 13.4(b).

B. Brand Owed a General Negligence Duty of Care to Barbara Brandes.

The Court of Appeals was correct in determining that Brand owed a duty of care to prevent unreasonable, foreseeable risks of harm from its actions at the ARCO refinery. Simple common law negligence principles, espoused in long-standing Washington case law, dictate that "[a] person has a duty to prevent unreasonable risk of harm to others from his or her own actions" "if a reasonable person would have foreseen the risk." Slip op. at 9, citing *Minahan v. Western Wash. Fair Ass'n*, 117 Wn. App. 881, 897, 73 P.3d 1019 (2003) and *Parrilla v. King County*, 138 Wn. App. 427, 436, 157 P.3d 879 (2007). Foreseeability is an inherently fact-specific determination reserved for the jury. *Crowe v. Gaston*, 134 Wn.2d 509, 517, 951 P.2d 1118 (1998).

Contrary to Brand's assertion, the jury finding of the foreseeability of Barbara Brandes' asbestos exposure was amply supported by the evidence at trial. While Brand identifies two items of evidence it relied upon to argue that it did not in fact foresee a risk of harm to family members of asbestos-exposed workers, Brand fails to reconcile its position with the extensive evidence presented at trial regarding the *foreseeability* of the takehome asbestos exposure risk. Plaintiff marshalled evidence that Brand was the primary insulation subcontractor who procured the majority of the insulation at the Cherry Point refinery, including asbestos insulation, and sold such insulation products to ARCO pursuant to Brand's subcontract. RP 194-95, 237-39, 244-45, 316-19, 323-24, 432. Plaintiff also presented evidence that Brand installed the thermal insulation for piping and equipment in the two areas of the refinery where Mr. Brandes worked, and that Brand insulators took no precautions to minimize the dust generated by their insulation activities. RP 385-86, 436-39, 612-14. The jury also heard evidence that at least two of Brand's competitors, J.T. Thorpe Insulation and Plant Insulations, *did* engage in safe industrial hygiene practices concerning asbestos insulation. RP 1302-05.

Mr. Brandes' co-worker, Dan Williams, as well as witnesses Nils Johnson and Leslie Pugh, further testified that visible dust was generated by Brand's on-site insulation work. RP 381-82, 433, 598-99. In conjunction, Plaintiff's expert industrial hygienist John Templin testified that whenever asbestos dust is visible, the concentration of asbestos in the atmosphere would exceed even the higher time-weighted average originally applied by OSHA in the early 1970s. RP 678-80, 708-09, 722. Furthermore, Plaintiff presented extensive evidence that the medical, scientific, and industry/trade literature in the decades leading up to Ms. Brandes' exposure confirmed the risk of workers' family members developing disease following exposure to toxic substances carried home on contaminated work clothing. *E.g.*, Exs. 35, 41, 50, 343. Plaintiff's state-of-the-art expert, Barry Castleman, Ph.D., testified to this body of knowledge and its availability to companies like Brand engaged in the insulation contracting business. RP 824-67.

The jury was thus presented with ample evidence to find that Brand could have foreseen harm to family members of workers exposed to asbestos from Brand's insulation activities at Cherry Point.⁴ Accordingly, the Court of Appeals appropriately concluded that "[g]iven the availability of information about the risk of harm to the families of asbestos workers, Brand could have foreseen injuries to the spouses of ARCO employees such as Barbara stemming from the unreasonable risk of harm it created in its installation of asbestos insulation at Cherry Point." Slip op. at 10. Brand's petition does not demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the jury's determination of foreseeability was supported by the evidence at trial is inconsistent with Washington law.

Brand repeats the same arguments it presented to the Court of Appeals in seeking this Court's review of whether it owed a duty of care to Barbara Brandes. Brand asserts that it owed no duty to Barbara Brandes either because: 1) Washington common law has not recognized a duty to family members of asbestos-exposed workers outside the context of strict liability and premises liability; 2) Brand's activities should be construed as

⁴ A risk is foreseeable if it merely falls within the "general field of danger which should have been anticipated" by the defendant. *Rikstad v. Holmberg*, 76 Wn.2d 265, 269, 456 P.2d 355 (1969). That the particular mode, method, or cause of harm was not foreseeable does not relieve a tortfeasor from liability so long as the *general* nature of the harm was foreseeable. *See King v. City of Seattle*, 84 Wn.2d 239, 248, 525 P.2d 228 (1974) ("[1]iability is not predicated upon the ability to foresee the exact manner in which the injury may be sustained."). Moreover, the foreseeability inquiry cannot be made in a vacuum, and depends in part on the defendant's circumstances and position, as well as the defendant's actual knowledge. *Id.; see also N.K. v. Corp. of Presiding Bishop of Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints*, 175 Wn. App. 517, 530-31, 307 P.3d 730, 737 (2013).

"nonfeasance"; or 3) no special relationship existed between the parties. However, the Court of Appeals considered and properly rejected each of these arguments in turn, reasoning that Brand's (since unchanged) position "sidesteps the basic negligence principles that establish a duty of care in this case." Slip op. at 10.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the fact that a takehome duty of care has been recognized in other contexts (strict and premises liability), in no way negates or precludes the recognition of such a duty in a basic negligence case. Slip op. at 10, citing Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 125 Wn. App. 784, 106 P.3d 808 (2005) and Arnold v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 157 Wn. App. 649, 240 P.3d 162 (2010). Furthermore, the appellate court rejected Brand's "special relationship" argument on the basis that this Court's precedent prescribes that the existence of a duty is only contingent upon a special relationship is cases where injury results from a third party's criminal conduct or the defendant's nonfeasance. Slip op. at 10, citing Tae Kim v. Budget Rent A Car Sys., Inc., 143 Wn.2d 190, 195, 15 P.3d 1283 (2001). Because neither situation applies in the current case, the Court rejected Brand's argument outright. Again, Brand's conclusory contention, without citation to any case law, that the issue of whether it owed a duty to Barbara Brandes is one of first impression warranting review ignores the Court of Appeals' unequivocal articulation that its decision was premised on basic and long-established principles of common law negligence.

C. The Negligence Jury Instructions Given in this Case Adequately Articulated the Governing Negligence Standard and Permitted the Parties to Argue Their Theories of the Case.

Brand next argues that the Court of Appeals erred in approving the lower court's "negligent sales" instruction to the jury because—according to Brand—it was not a "seller." As it did in the Court of Appeals, Brand misses the mark by ignoring the nature of Plaintiff's simple negligence claim litigated at trial. As Plaintiff's sole theory of liability against Brand was negligence, the jury was able to consider—and Brand was able to argue—the nature of its relationship to ARCO and Parsons (the general contractor for the Cherry Point refinery construction), including any variations in Brand's conduct from the accepted definition of a "seller."

In approving the lower court's instruction, the Court of Appeals discussed this Court's opinion in *Simonetta v. Viad Corp.*, 165 Wn.2d 341, 348, 197 P.3d 127 (2008), adopting the scope of the duty to warn set forth in the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 388 (1965). Slip op. at 14. As the Court of Appeals observed, *Simonetta* clearly provides that the duty to warn extends to all entities within the chain of distribution of a hazardous product. *Id.* Brand fundamentally fails to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals misapplied *Simonetta* sufficient to justify this Court's review.

Brand also urges, as it did to the Court of Appeals, that the trial court's summary judgment ruling dismissing Plaintiff's strict product liability claim on the basis that Brand was not a "seller" under Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A (1965) precluded the negligent sales instruction submitted to the jury at trial. To sustain this theory, Brand offers a strained interpretation of the Court of Appeals' decision that, because the appellate court observed that Brand "sold insulation to Parsons"—yet the lower court ruled that Brand was not a seller under § 402A and no party challenged that ruling—the Court of Appeals made a "factual finding contrary to an unchallenged factual finding of the trial court." Pet. at 16. The Court of Appeals succinctly explained why Brand's argument in this regard fails:

These two sections of the restatement have different language, interpretative caselaw, and policy rationales. In addition, the trial court's dismissal of Barbara's § 402A strict liability claim does not bind this court to an outcome on § 388 that is inconsistent with the law.

Slip op. at 15. The Court of Appeals thus concluded "that Brand is a supplier within the chain of distribution of insulation" and "the trial court did not err when it instructed the jury on negligent sales." *Id.*

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